FILED

03/05/2025

Bowen Greenwood CLERK OF THE SUPREME COURT STATE OF MONTANA

Case Number: DA 23-0677

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 23-0677

JUAN ANASTASIO RODRIGUEZ,

Petitioner and Appellant,

vs.

STATE OF MONTANA.

Respondent and Appellee.

ON APPEAL FROM ORDER(S) DENYING PETITION FOR POSTCONVICTION RELIEF ENTERED IN THE EIGHTH JUDICIAL DISTRICT COURT OF CASCADE COUNTY IN THE STATE OF MONTANA BEFORE THE HONORABLE ELIZABETH BEST

BRIEF OF APPELLANT JUAN RODRIGUEZ

Shandor S. Badaruddin SHANDOR S. BADARUDDIN, PC 736 South Third Street West Missoula, Montana 59801 Telephone: (406) 728-6868 Facsimile: (406) 728-7722 shandor@shandorlaw.com tricia@shandorlaw.com

I. Statement of the Issues Presented for Review.

Pursuant to M.R.App.P. 12(1)(b) Appellant Juan Anastasio Rodriguez, "Rodriguez," states the issues presented for review.

Issue 1: Whether the District Court had jurisdiction to issue the Amended Order Denying Petition for Postconviction Relief (ROA 21).

Issue 2: Whether Rodriguez timely "filed" his Petition for Postconviction Relief by delivering it to the Clerk prior to the deadline for filing it.

Issue 3: Whether Rodriguez was denied effective assistance of counsel at trial.

Issue 4: Whether Rodriguez was denied effective assistance of counsel on appeal.

Issue 5: Whether the district court abused its discretion when it declined to grant an evidentiary hearing or other relief that would have provided Rodriguez an adequate, effective and meaningful opportunity to present his claims.

II. Statement of the Case.

Pursuant to M.R.App.P. 12(1)(c), Rodriguez briefly indicates the nature of the case and the procedural disposition in the district court below, including only the procedural background relevant to the issues raised.

Rodriguez filed a Petition for Postconviction Relief ("Petition") pursuant to 46-21-101 et. seq., MCA. *See* Petition ROA Listing, Filing No. 3, "ROA [document sequence no.],"), ROA 3, pages 5-22. The district court ordered a response, Order to

1

Respond (ROA 5). The State filed its Response to the Petition (ROA 15), and a "Joint" Affidavit signed by both trial counsel (ROA 16), on August 22, 2023. Approximately twenty-four hours later, on August 23, 2023, the district court issued the Order Denying Petition for Postconviction Relief (ROA 17), denying the Petition on the grounds it was untimely filed and on the merits. *See Id.*, pages 4-6.

On September 7, 2023, Rodriguez timely filed a motion to reconsider pursuant to M.R.Civ.P. 59(e), seeking to demonstrate the Petition was timely filed. *See* ROA 18. On November 15, 2023 the State filed its Response to Motion for Reconsideration (ROA 20) conceding the Petition was timely filed but argued it should be denied on the merits. *Id.*, pages 3-4. Sixty days elapsed from the date Petitioner's Motion at M.R.Civ.P. 59(e) Motion, ROA 18, was filed without either (1) a ruling; or (2) the issuance of an order extending the time within which to rule on the motion. The Motion was therefore deemed denied on November 6, 2023. *See* M.R.Civ.P. 59(f).

Rodriguez filed his Notice of Appeal and Motion to Proceed Without Paying the Filing Fee with this Court, November 16, 2023. This Court granted the Motion and docketed this Appeal, the same day. Thereafter, November 17, 2023, the district court issued an Amended Order Denying Petition for Postconviction Relief (ROA 21). The district court found the Petition was timely filed but again denied it on the merits. *Id*.

III. Statement of the Facts Relevant to Issues Presented for Review.

Pursuant to M.R.App.P. 12(1)(d) Rodriguez states the facts relevant to the issues presented for review, with references to the pages/parts of the record at which material facts appear.

- 1. Statement of the Facts with Citation to the Record.
 - A. Rodriguez filed his Petition for Postconviction Relief within the one-year time limit for doing so.
 - i. Rodriguez was before this Court on direct appeal, Case No. DA 18-0328. *State v. Rodriguez*, 2021 MT 65, 403 Mont. 360, 483 P.3d 1080.
 - ii. This Court denied a Petition for Rehearing on April 20, 2021. See Order, April 20, 2021, in Case No. DA 18-0328.
 - iii. Rodriguez had 90 days to petition the United States Supreme Court for review. See U.S. Supreme Court Rule 13(1).
 - iv. Rodriguez's conviction became final 90 days after the time to petition for review in the U.S. Supreme Court expired, or July 19, 2021. See 46-21-102(1) and (2), MCA; See Also, Order, ROA 17, page 5.

- v. 46-21-102, MCA provides a petition for postconviction relief may be filed anytime within 1 year of the date the conviction becomes final.
- vi. Rodriguez had until July 19 2022, to file his Petition. See ROA 17, page 5.
- vii. On July 13, 2022, Rodriguez gave his Petition, Memorandum in support of same, and related documents¹ to Montana State Prison Officials to mail to the Clerk of the Eighth Judicial District Court. Rodriguez included a "Certificate of Service," (ROA 3, pages 2-4), itemizing each enclosure.
 - The package containing the items which are now ROA 3 arrived at the Clerk's Office July 18, 2022 at 9:43 a.m. *See* ROA 18, page 7 (Exhibit B to Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment). *See Also*, ROA 20, page 1.
- viii. On July 18, 2022, the Petition and Memorandum in Support of Petition, as well as all of ROA 3, were in the custody of the Eighth Judicial District Court Clerk.

¹ ROA 3 is a 918 page document containing the Petition and related documents. Rodriguez includes an Index of the contents of ROA 3 in the Appendix at APP 6.

- Petitioner sent only one package to the Eighth Judicial District Court Clerk in July of 2022. ROA 18, pages 2-4.
- ix. The Affidavit of Inability to Pay Filing Fees and Other Costs, ROA1, was stamped filed by the Clerk on July 18, 2022.
- x. The remaining documents were not stamped filed until July 26, 2022.
- xi. The State conceded the Petition was timely filed. ROA 20, page 3.

B. Facts Underlying the Claims at Issue in the Petition.

- i. State's presentation regarding the alleged circumstances surrounding the disclosure by J.S. to her Primary Medical Provider Ladonna Maxwell.
 - J.S. was the alleged victim in this case resulting in the conviction for which Rodriguez petitioned for relief. *See Rodriguez*, 2021 MT 65, ¶4.
 - Ladonna Maxwell, a Family Nurse Practitioner, testified she was J.S.'s primary care provider since approximately 2004. *See* Transcript of the Jury Trial,("TTX") December 11-13, 2017, APP4, TTX 398:10, 399:23-400:8.²

² Rodriguez included relevant Transcripts in his filing at ROA 3, pages 446-700. For easier review more legible excerpts referenced herein are included in the Appendix.

- J.S. testified she had seen Ladonna Maxwell for approximately 14 years prior to her testimony. APP4, TTX 337:22-337:24.
 "Specifically," (J.S.) saw Maxwell for "...annual pap smear examinations" APP4, TTX 337:25-338:1.
- 4. The State characterized the nature and scope of Maxwell's treatment as routine and ordinary: "...runny noses, colds, minor surgery procedures, ...anything that a family practice would do." APP4, TTX 400:11-400:18.
- 5. The State characterized Maxwell's treatment of J.S. as "episodic care....Episodic care is when someone comes in and it's not for a chronic illness; there are just coming in for like a runny nose or a cold or a sore throat." APP4, TTX 400:19-400:23.
- 6. July 19, 2011, allegedly, was one such routine visit, "[J.S.] was having severe anxiety, hadn't been sleeping. She had multiple stressors, was having a hard time coping, was afraid to leave her apartment, told me she had, broke down and that she had been kidnapped and sexually assaulted [nine years prior] at age 15..." APP4, TTX 407:8-407:12.
- 7. "...[H]er anxiety was worse because she had seen her attacker and it had flared everything again." APP4, TTX 407:13-407:15.

8. "As a result of that statement by [J.S.] to you in 2011, you indicated you made treatment recommendations...can you tell the jury what your plan with [J.S] at that point was?" APP4, TTX 408:2-408:5. Maxwell responded: "I wanted her to go inpatient in the psychiatric hospital..." APP4, TTX 408:9-408:10.

ii. Additional circumstances surrounding the disclosure available to trial counsel, but not presented at trial by trial counsel.

- Maxwell never treated J.S. for a runny nose, cold or sore throat. Maxwell treated J.S. for many years for chronic conditions such as severe generalized anxiety disorder, agoraphobia, panic disorder, bipolar traits and severe depression. Maxwell's treatment records could not be fairly characterized and limited to routine or episodic care.
 - a. 5/22/06: J.S. advised Maxwell she had quit school, quit working on her GED, was starving to death, and did not have money for diapers or baby supplies. ROA 3, page 287.
 - b. 6/2/06: J.S. "…looked really bad…" She was experiencing many stressors. She had been robbed the night before, lost the money she needed to buy a new car, pay her rent, and move her new baby into a new apartment. She was instead going to

be evicted and had nowhere to go. She had been defrauded by a man whom she felt cared for her. She wanted to find a home for her baby and then "end it all." "...[J.S.] sobbed and sobbed." ROA 3, page 288.

- c. 6/5/06: J.S. returned to Maxwell to "...for follow up of her...depression." ROA 3, page 286. She had been prescribed an antidepressant and it was "working well for her" *Id.*
- d. 10/2/06: J.S. returned to Maxwell "...with extreme anxiety attacks...She had one so bad last night she actually ran her car into a pole...she was trying to get pulled over...she felt like she could not breath...She [was] having multiple stressors...she found out her mom [was] cheating on her step-dad...she also found out her mom [had] an affair with her old boyfriend who used to live with them [it happened when he was still with J.S.]...[J.S.] has had multiple, multiple stressors in the past." ROA 3, page 285. J.S. was also on Xanax. *Id*.
- e. 7/21/08: J.S. returned to Maxwell "...under a tremendous amount of stress again and [was] having full blown anxiety attacks. She has been in the ER the last two or three nights

because of her anxiety." ROA 3, page 283. J.S. was given Valium for her anxiety. Maxwell also started her on Zoloft. *Id.*

- f. 7/23/08: J.S. presented again with "full blown panic attacks, agoraphobia ...waking up in the middle of the night with shaking-type behaviors...[J.S.] reports she twitches and shakes, ...is aware that she is doing this and she is able to stop it. ...The Emergency Room gave her Valium..." ROA 3, page 281. Maxwell gave her Lorazepam in addition to previously prescribed Zoloft. *Id*.
- g. 7/24/08: J.S. returned to Maxwell because she believed she was having seizure activity, as well as "bad anxiety and agoraphobia attacks." ROA 3, page 282. She went (again) to the ER but "...they could not find any evidence of a seizure, but they did not do an EEG. They did studies of her brain." *Id.* Maxwell did a neurological exam, and it was "...completely normal." J.S. perceived conditions/symptoms that were real to her but objective testing demonstrated she imagined them.
- h. 8/6/08: Maxwell noted "[J.S.] is completely overwhelmed."
 ROA 3, page 280.

- i. 8/12/08: Maxwell noted, "I think this is psychosomatic because she can stop it. [and J.S.] is having severe panic attacks again." ROA 3, page 278. In other words J.S. imagined/generated conditions/symptoms, which objectively did not exist, and could start/stop them at will.
- j. 8/19/08: Maxwell diagnosed J.S. with "...generalized anxiety disorder..." and "had a very hard time managing her anxiety. She also has multiple other stressors, issues and depression going on as well as financial stressors." ROA 3 page 277. An EEG indicated J.S. did not suffer from any seizure disorder as J.S. had alleged. Maxwell prescribed J.S. Lexapro. *Id.*
- k. 8/27/08: J.S. continued to experience anxiety and "...continues to have ...pseudo seizures or seizure type activity without any evidence of any epileptic changes on the EEG." ROA 3, page 276.
- 4/16/09: J.S. continued to have anxiety and asked Maxwell to prescribe Xanax. Maxwell refused because "[t]there has been an issue in the past with increased benzodiazepine use." ROA 3, page 274. J.S. engaged in drug seeking behavior, which

Maxwell noted was an issue, yet the State produced no records documenting the facts of the increased use.

- m. 12/8/2009: J.S. considered overdosing by taking all her remaining medications but chose not to. ROA 3, page 270.
- n. 5/10/11: Maxwell summarized the medications she was using to try and control J.S.'s anxiety: Paxil, Prozac, Zoloft, Abilify, Seroquel, Clonazepam, and Diazepam. ROA 3, page 262. Maxwell also noted J.S. had "...multiple somatization. She reads the brochures [accompanying her prescription medication] and then has those side effects." *Id.*
- o. 5/25/11, "[J.S.]'s anxiety is so severe that she is not able to get through taking anything without having side effects. She reads the package insert and says that she has that illness..."
 ROA 3, page 261. Again, J.S. believed she experienced conditions/symptoms, for no other reason than self-suggestion.
- p. 5/31/2011: Dr. Elad Culcea, determined through EMG studies, J.S.'s pseudoseizures/tremors had no "neurological explanation." ROA 3, page 260. This confirmed Maxwell's

11

determination the "seizures" were pseudoseizures and psychosomatic as discussed above.

- q. 6/13/11: Maxwell suspected J.S. was bipolar and attempted, for the second time, to convince J.S. to be admitted into inpatient psychiatric treatment. ROA 3, page 259.
- r. 7/5/11: Maxwell diagnosed J.S. with "...severe generalized anxiety disorder, agoraphobia, panic disorder, some bipolar traits and severe depression...[and concluded, J.S.] will be following up with me on a weekly basis until we can get this stabilized. If she does not get any better she will need a psychiatric admission." ROA 3, page 257.
- s. 7/14/11: Record notes, "[J.S.] states she is not taking [her] med for anxiety...feels her life is falling apart....thoughts are scattered." ROA 3, page 256.

iii. Trial counsel did not confront Maxwell with records or other evidence that:

 Contrary to Maxwell's testimony that J.S.'s anxiety problem occurred at or near the 7/19/11 visit, J.S. had experienced anxiety, agoraphobia, panic disorder, bipolar traits and severe depression, enumerated above, many years before any alleged sighting of her alleged attacker "flared" or triggered any such condition on 7/19/11.

- Maxwell recommended inpatient psychiatric care for J.S. before her disclosure 7/19/11.
- 3. J.S. had numerous other circumstances/stressors, other than the alleged assault, which explained her anxiety.
- 4. Maxwell was treating J.S. for chronic mental disorders for many years prior to the 7/19/11 disclosure.

iv. Additional impeaching evidence in the possession of the State not disclosed and not sought by trial counsel.

- In addition to the above regarding J.S.'s lengthy term of mental health disorders and treatment with Maxell, Trial Counsel was aware of the following.
 - a. J.S. told Det. Slaughter (State's primary investigator), Maxwell referred her to an unnamed mental health counselor to whom J.S. asserted she disclosed the allegations of rape. ROA 3, page 237.
 - b. Slaughter obtained records from the unnamed counselor and reviewed them and found no indication or description of the rape allegations. *Id.*

- c. The State did not disclose the records reviewed by Slaughter or the identity of the unnamed counselor.
 - i. The fact J.S. said she made the disclosure to a mental health professional, and the records demonstrated this statement was not true, was *Giglio* information.
 - ii. Trial counsel did not request the records, did not seek to identify the counselor, did not cross examine Slaughter on the issue, and did not otherwise pursue appropriate action to present this information.
- d. While reviewing the undisclosed records, Slaughter noticed a referral to a Hayden Hendrick in either the unnamed counselor's records or Maxwell's records. ROA 3, page 237.
- e. Slaughter interviewed Hendrick regarding his treatment of J.S.
 "[Hendrick] stated he was seeing her for issues with her family and church... he did not recall ever speaking to her about her being raped or sexually assaulted." *Id.*
 - i. Trial counsel did not seek to impeach or confront J.S. about her failure to disclose the alleged rape to Hendrick. Nor did they pursue the production of/or seek to obtain Hendrick's records which Slaughter alleged he possessed,

to determine what "issues" J.S. had with her family and church.

- v. The date of the alleged assault and date Rodriguez acquired the Honda Civic.
 - The State's theory was the assault occurred sometime after June
 27, 2003 and before J.S.'s 16th birthday in October, 2003.
 - a. J.S. alleged she was assaulted in a Honda Civic owned by Rodriguez. APP4, TTX 322:2. The State demonstrated Rodriguez purchased and/or registered the vehicle in question on June 27, 2003. *See* ROA 3, page 915-916 (Exhibit 12, item 42).
 - b. J.S. turned 15 in October, 2002, and 16 in October, 2003. She alleged the assault occurred while she was 15 and prior to her 16th birthday, while she was still residing with her parents. APP4, TTX 321:12-322:2.
 - 2. The following evidence was available to Trial Counsel but not presented for the Jury's consideration at trial.
 - a. J.S. told Slaughter, "...in an audio and video recorded statement..." the assault occurred "[i]n the spring of 2002..."
 ROA 3, Pages 294-295. Rodriguez did not acquire the Honda

Civic until over a year later. See ROA 3, page 916 (Exhibit 12, item 42).

- b. Slaughter executed a sworn statement the assault occurred Spring of 2003. *See* ROA 3, pages 705-706.
 - i. Rodriguez did not acquire the Honda Civic until several months later.
 - ii. Slaughter did not document any reason for changing Spring 2002 to Spring 2003.
- 3. Jessica Hahn, J.S.'s friend at the time of the alleged assault testified the assault occurred no later than March/April of 2003.
 - a. Hahn and J.S. were friends but stopped talking or spending time together sometime prior to Hahn's senior prom. APP4, TTX 376:21-377:18. Hahn's senior prom occurred in March/April 2003. *Id.*

vi. Testimony regarding the J&R Roofing truck in 2008.

 J.S. testified Rodriguez came to her house and parked outside in a black truck with a business logo associated with a business Rodriguez owned and managed, "J.R's. Roofing and Siding" displayed on it. APP4, TTX 332:4-333:24. *See Also*, Exhibit 2, at ROA 3, page 908.

- J.S. did not specify a date or timeframe during which she saw the truck but Alexis Warren, f.k.a. Alexis Evans, testified she saw Rodriguez's truck parked outside J.S.'s apartment in 2008. The Truck had the logo "J.R.'s Roofing and Siding" displayed upon it. APP4, TTX 381:20-381:23, 387:16-389:1.
- 3. The following facts were available to trial counsel but not presented to the Court or Jury.
 - Rodriguez did not purchase the truck in question until 2009, and did not affix the business name logo, "J.R.'s Roofing and Siding" upon the truck until 2011.
 - Rodriguez submitted incorporation documents from the Montana Secretary of State indicating "J.R.'s Roofing and Siding" did not exist until August 15, 2011. He submitted invoices from Allegra Printing, demonstrating the logos were not purchased until 2011. ROA 3, pages 441-444; *See also*, ROA 3, page 25, ¶¶47-55.
- b. Trial Counsel admits "...[t]he defense strategy was to illuminate the fact Evans never saw Rodriguez during this interaction and nothing criminal had occurred. The vehicle...was a company truck, which could have been driven

by any employee...it was a construction company truck parked next to a hardware store." ROA 16, 13:9-13:19.

c. These objectives would have been achieved if Trial Counsel established the logos and the company did not exist until 2011, and any allegation they were on a truck in 2008 was incredible and unworthy of belief.

vii. State's characterization of the homelife and lifestyle of J.S.

- The State characterized J.S.'s homelife/lifestyle as "...very strict religious upbringing..." APP4, TTX 301:3.
- The State characterized J.S.'s parents as "...strict religious parents..." who might be angry if she went out with or got a ride home non-church member friends/boys. APP4, TTX 303:2-303:6. This was argued as an explanation for J.S.'s failure to disclose her allegations earlier. *Id.*
- 3. J.S. testified she was "…raised in a really religious household. It was very, very strict. We didn't celebrate any of the holidays. We didn't really talk to anybody that was outside the church. It was a really super strict environment. Everything was structured." APP4, TTX 316:19-316:22.

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