IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF MONTANA

No. DA 23-0677

JUAN ANASTASIO RODRIGUEZ,

Petitioner and Appellant,

v.

STATE OF MONTANA,

Respondent and Appellee.

BRIEF OF APPELLEE

On Appeal from the Montana Eighth Judicial District Court,
Cascade County, The Honorable Elizabeth Best, Presiding

APPEARANCES:

AUSTIN KNUDSEN
Montana Attorney General
KATIE F. SCHULZ
Assistant Attorney General
215 North Sanders
P.O. Box 201401
Helena, MT 59620-1401
Phone: 406-444-2026
kschulz@mt.gov

SHANDOR S. BADARUDDIN
Shandor S. Badaruddin, PC
736 South Third Street West
Missoula, MT 59801

ATTORNEY FOR PETITIONER
AND APPELLANT

JOSHUA A. RACKI
Cascade County Attorney
121 4th Street North, Suite 2A

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The district court did not lack authority to enter the amended order denying PCR. Not only was the order issued pursuant to Rodriguez's motion to amend, it was not issued beyond the trigger date for filing an appeal. Nevertheless, the court's initial order also denied Rodriguez's claims on the merits, which this Court may affirm if it does not consider the amended order.

Many of Rodriguez's claims on appeal are procedurally barred under general principles of waiver/statutory bars, or not preserved for appeal. Of the remaining viable claims, Rodriguez has not met his heavy burden to establish the court's findings were clearly erroneous or that the court's application of *Strickland* was incorrect.

The court correctly applied the strong presumption that Defense Counsel performed within the wide range of reasonable professional conduct throughout the

trial. Defense Counsel exercised objectively reasonable judgment in holding the State to its burden and attacking the vague, inconsistent timeline of events J.S. and the other witnesses provided. Rodriguez cannot establish that Defense Counsels' performance fell below an objective standard of reasonableness in light of the strong presumption their trial strategy decisions fell within the wide range of reasonable professional decisions. Nor has Rodriguez demonstrated prejudice as a result of Defense Counsels' alleged errors that amounted to a reasonable probability of a different outcome.

The district court did not abuse its discretion when it determined an evidentiary hearing was not necessary. Nor did this determination deny Rodriguez access to the courts. Given the significant record from Rodriguez's criminal proceedings—that the same judge presided over—and the conclusory and unsupported nature of Rodriguez's claims, the court did not act arbitrarily when it did not conduct an evidentiary hearing.

ARGUMENT

I. The district court had authority to issue the amended order.

Rodriguez makes two contradictory assertions about the court's amended order. (Appellant's Brief (Br.) 34-35.) Rodriguez argues the court lacked authority to issue the amended order because this Court had docketed his notice of appeal

the day before. Yet, Rodriguez also asserts the court did not err in issuing the amended order to correct a “clerical error” (*e.g.*, the date his petition was filed/received by the clerk of court). These arguments are neither compelling nor consistent.

First, the district court’s amended order did not simply correct a “clerical error.” *See Zielie*, ¶ 28 (“Clerical mistakes and errors are those errors which misrepresent the court’s original intention.”). The court’s amended order included additional findings and a completely opposite legal conclusion, including its rejection of Rodriguez’s legal theory relying on the “mailbox rule.” Thus, the amended order was not issued to correct a clerical error.

Second, the court did not act outside its authority when it issued the amended order. Whether a district court has jurisdiction is a question of law that this Court reviews “to determine whether the district court had authority to act. A court exceeds its jurisdiction through acts which exceed the defined power of a court, whether that power be defined by constitutional provisions, express statutes, or rules developed by the courts.” *Zielie*, ¶ 12.

The Case Register establishes the court had no knowledge that Rodriguez had filed a notice of appeal. Rodriguez’s notice of appeal was not docketed with the court until November 21, 2023—four days after its amended order was issued. On that day, the court received two documents from this Court: a copy of

Rodriguez's notice of appeal that this Court had file stamped on November 16, 2023, and this Court's Notice of Filing issued November 16, 2023.

In addition to not having any notice that Rodriguez had mailed a notice of appeal on or about November 9, 2023, the district court had no reason to believe the time limit to file an appeal had even been triggered. First, the time to file an appeal from an order denying a PCR petition is 60 days, not 30. *See* § 46-21-203, MCA.

Second, the 60-day "deemed denied" deadline under Mont. R. Civ. P. 59(f) was not November 6, 2023. Rodriguez filed his Rule 59(e) motion on September 7, 2023, within the 28-day deadline. Rule 59(f) provides that if no order is issued on a motion to amend judgment "within 60 days from its filing date, the motion must be deemed denied." Relying on Rule 59(f) and using September 7, 2023 as the filing date, Rodriguez argues that his motion to amend was "deemed denied" as of November 6, 2023.

However, pursuant to the Eighth Judicial District Court's Local Rule No. 7(B) (L.R. 7(B)), once the time for filing pleadings in a contested matter has passed, "at least one party shall file a 'Notice of Issue'" alerting the court the motion is ready for ruling. "Until a Notice has been filed and served, the motion(s) shall not be deemed submitted." L.R. 7(B). Because this local rule "enlarges" the time determining when a matter is deemed submitted, it is reasonable that the court

would not have considered Rodriguez’s motion as submitted until his October 11, 2023 letter (DV-Doc-19). *See* Mont. R. Civ. P. 6(a). A district court’s discretion in controlling the administration of litigation, including “such things as post-trial motions and similar rulings,” is broad. *Southwest Mont. Bldg. Indus. Ass’n v. City of Bozeman*, 2018 MT 62, ¶ 48, 391 Mont. 55, 414 P.3d 761.

Sixty days from October 11, 2023, was December 11, 2023. The court’s November 16, 2023 amended order was issued prior to the “deemed denied” deadline. Thus, Rodriguez’s November 16, 2023 notice of appeal was premature. Mont. R. App. P. 4(5)(a)(v)(C); *In re Marriage of Grounds*, 256 Mont. 397, 399, 846 P.2d 1034, 1035 (1993) (“If a notice of appeal is filed before the [Rule 59] motion is disposed of, the notice of appeal shall have no effect.”).

When the district court’s local rules are considered along with the fact the court had not received timely notification that Rodriguez had appealed, the district court did not act without authority when it issued the amended order. As this Court has explained, Rule 59(e) “provides a time prescription; it does not involve the District Court’s power to hear the case.” *Southwest*, ¶ 31.

Moreover, a district court has broad discretion in controlling the administration of litigation. *Southwest*, ¶ 48. Rodriguez’s motion included additional facts, thereby effectively reopening the PCR proceeding. *See Patton v. Patton*, 2015 MT 7, ¶ 30, 378 Mont. 22, 340 P.3d 1242.

Rodriguez has not established that the court's amended order should be nullified as having been issued outside the court's authority to act. Moreover, when presented with unique procedural circumstances, such as this matter, this Court possesses the authority to suspend its own rules "[i]n the interest of expediting decision . . . or for other good cause shown." See *Durden v. Hydro Flame Corp.*, 1998 MT 47, ¶¶ 17-18, 288 Mont. 1, 955 P.2d 160 (likelihood of subsequent appeal, judicial economy supported reaching appellate issues); *Garza v. Peppard*, 213 Mont. 25, 689 P.2d 279 (1984) (procedural violation would not affect the validity of the appeal). Thus, this Court may exercise its authority under Mont. R. App. P. 29 to find that, although it docketed Rodriguez's Notice of Appeal on November 16, 2023, the district court was not precluded from issuing its amended order the next day.

Nevertheless, should this Court find the district court lacked the authority to issue the amended order, that order would be set aside and the previous order would be reinstated. *Thomas v. Thomas*, 189 Mont. 547, 552, 617 P.2d 133, 136 (1980). Under that procedural determination, Rodriguez would be appealing from

the court's August 23, 2023 order denying his PCR petition.⁴ Regardless of which order this Court deems as the order from which this appeal stems, Rodriguez is not entitled to relief.

II. Unpreserved claims and application of procedural bars

Before reaching the merits of alleged postconviction claims, courts must determine whether the claims are properly raised or procedurally barred. *Hagen v. State*, 1999 MT 8, ¶ 11, 293 Mont. 60, 973 P.2d 233.

This Court applies the statutory bar “in order to prevent the abuse of postconviction relief by criminal defendants who would substitute those proceedings for direct appeal and in order to preserve the integrity of the trial and direct appeal.” *Watson v. State*, 2002 MT 329, ¶ 11, 313 Mont. 209, 61 P.3d 759. This Court will not review issues that were not presented for appeal in the district court. *Herman v. State*, 2006 MT 7, ¶¶ 54-55, 330 Mont. 267, 127 P.3d 422. Nor will this Court address unsupported arguments or develop and articulate arguments for parties on appeal. *Herman*, ¶ 22. Any claim not specifically raised in

⁴Should this Court determine either the original or amended order lacks sufficient findings or analysis, the appropriate remedy is not to grant Rodriguez's Petition. Rather, the matter would be remanded with instructions to make further findings and conclusions. *Heath v. State*, 2009 MT 7, ¶ 26, 348 Mont. 361, 202 P.3d 118.

Rodriguez’s Opening Brief has been abandoned and may not be considered.

Ford v. State, 2005 MT 151, ¶ 35, 327 Mont. 378, 114 P.3d 244.

A. Non-IAC claims

Of the 63 grounds listed in the Petition, Rodriguez raised 6 prosecutorial misconduct claims (Grounds 29-34), 7 alleged “court errors” (Grounds 36-40, 60, and 62), 1 juror misconduct allegation (Ground-42); and 1 bailiff misconduct allegation (Ground-35).⁵ None of these grounds were raised on direct appeal.

Thus, Rodriguez was procedurally barred from raising them in his Petition.

See §§ 46-21-101(1), -105(2), (3), MCA. This Court “will not consider grounds for postconviction relief that reasonably could have been raised on direct appeal.”

DeShields v. State, 2006 MT 58, ¶ 15, 331 Mont. 329, 132 P.3d 540.

Accordingly, in its amended order, the court correctly denied relief on these grounds because they had not been raised on direct appeal. And, although the court did not address them in its original order, this Court may still affirm the district court’s order denying relief on these procedurally barred grounds as right for the wrong reason. *See Peterson v. State*, 2017 MT 165, ¶ 21, 388 Mont. 122, 398 P.3d 259.

⁵For convenience and clarity, IAC arguments Rodriguez asserted his Petition will be referred to as “Ground-X” while arguments asserted on appeal will be referred to as “Claim-X.”

Moreover, this Court need not address these 15 grounds because Rodriguez has offered no legal arguments or analysis relative to these non-IAC grounds. This Court will “not consider unsupported arguments” or abandoned claims. *Herman*, ¶ 22; *Ford*, ¶ 35.

B. Appellate counsel IAC claims

Of the 63 grounds in the Petition, 18 were IAC complaints against his appellate counsel. Twelve grounds argued counsel was ineffective for not raising certain “record-based” IAC claims on direct appeal. (Grounds 43-44, 46-54, and 57.) Six grounds concerned non-IAC claims. (Grounds 45, 55, 56, 58, 61, and 63.)

On appeal, Rodriguez asserts that appellate counsel’s “performance was only deficient if this Court concludes one or more claims of ineffective assistance were record-based and necessary to bring on direct appeal.” (Br. at 31.)

Since the State does not assert that any of the IAC claims Rodriguez advances on appeal were record-based, none of Rodriguez’s appellate IAC claims require this Court to review them. Moreover, this Court should not consider any appellate counsel IAC claims since Rodriguez fails to present any legal analysis or argument on those claims. *Herman*, ¶ 22.

C. Trial counsel IAC claims

Nearly half of the arguments Rodriguez asserted in his Petition were IAC claims against Mittelstadt and Owens. (*See* Grounds 1-28, 41, and 59.) However,

on appeal, Rodriguez asserts only eleven IAC claims against Defense Counsel (e.g., Claims 1 through 9, 10(a) and 10(b)). (Br. at 41-64.) Any IAC claim not specifically raised and argued has been abandoned and may not be considered. *Ford*, ¶ 35.

Finally, as discussed below, some or parts of the claims asserted on appeal were not articulated in the Petition and have thus been waived. *See State v. Wetzel*, 2005 MT 154, ¶ 13, 327 Mont. 413, 114 P.3d 269 (cannot change theories on appeal); *Sanders v. State*, 2004 MT 374, ¶ 14, 325 Mont. 59, 103 P.3d 1053 (cannot expand claims); *Herman*, ¶¶ 54-55 (Court will not review issues that were not presented to the district court).

III. The district court correctly concluded that Defense Counsel were not ineffective.

“[A] petitioner seeking to reverse a district court’s denial of a petition for postconviction relief . . . bears a heavy burden.” *Whitlow v. State*, 2008 MT 140, ¶ 21, 343 Mont. 90, 183 P.3d 861. A petitioner must prove by a preponderance of the evidence that he is entitled to relief and present “more than mere conclusory allegations.” *Ellenburg v. Chase*, 2004 MT 66, ¶ 16, 320 Mont. 315, 87 P.3d 473.

In assessing IAC claims, this Court applies the two-pronged test set forth in *Strickland v. Washington*, 466 U.S. 668 (1984). *Whitlow*, ¶ 10. Petitioners must demonstrate by a preponderance of the evidence that their counsels’ performance

was deficient and that as a result, they suffered prejudice. *Oliphant*, ¶ 38. If an IAC claim can be disposed of for lack of evidence on one *Strickland* prong, the other prong need not be addressed. *Whitlow*, ¶ 11.

An attorney's performance was deficient if their "conduct fell below an objective standard of reasonableness measured under prevailing professional norms and in light of the surrounding circumstances." *Whitlow*, ¶ 20. There is "a strong presumption that counsel's conduct falls within the wide range of reasonable professional assistance," and the defendant "must overcome the presumption that, under the circumstances, the challenged action might be considered sound trial strategy." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 689. The petitioner bears a "heavy" burden to overcome this presumption, *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 713, and "every effort must be made to eliminate the distorting effects of hindsight, to reconstruct the circumstances of counsel's challenged conduct, and to evaluate the conduct from counsel's perspective at the time," *Whitlow*, ¶ 15.

To establish *Strickland*'s second prong, prejudice, the defendant must demonstrate a reasonable probability that, but for counsel's deficient performance, the result of the proceeding would have been different. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 687. When considering this prong, the court must consider the totality of the evidence. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 695. "A reasonable probability is a probability sufficient to undermine confidence in the outcome." *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 694.

The likelihood of a different result must be “substantial.” *Harrington v. Richter*, 562 U.S. 86, 112 (2011).

A. Claim-1 [Grounds-2, 3, 19]

Rodriguez faults Defense Counsel for not doing a more thorough job of “confronting” J.S. and Maxwell to discredit J.S. (Br. at 41-46.) This compound claim criticizes Defense Counsels’ investigation into J.S.’s medical records and asserts Defense Counsel should have conducted more thorough cross-examinations of J.S. and Maxwell. None of Rodriguez’s arguments are compelling.

This Court “accords great deference to [c]ounsel’s exercise of judgment in determining appropriate defenses and trial strategy.” *Oliphant*, ¶ 43. Even if a court determines counsel could have done a “better” or “more thorough” job, potentially causing prejudice to the defendant, that is insufficient to establish IAC under *Strickland*. *Weaver v. State*, 2005 MT 158, ¶ 28, 327 Mont. 441, 114 P.3d 1039.

Courts review attorneys’ decisions regarding investigations for reasonableness in light of all the circumstances of the case, applying great deference to counsel’s judgments. *Strickland*, 466 U.S. at 691. “When defense counsel is accused of failing to investigate adequately, the focus is on whether the information obtained from such an investigation would have produced a different result.” *Heavygun v. State*, 2016 MT 66, ¶ 18, 383 Mont. 28, 368 P.3d 707.

Defense Counsel obtained J.S.'s records from Maxwell and Bottomly. Thus, at most, the only complaints Rodriguez asserts about Defense Counsel's investigation are not subpoenaing Hayden Hendrick or noticing there was a record in which J.S. allegedly said she could not remember her own name. (Br. at 42-43.)

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